

Deeble Institute for Health Policy Research

Perspectives Brief

no: 27

27 July 2023

Risk based cancer screening: the role of primary care

Ms Crystal Koa

PC4: Primary Care Collaborative Cancer Clinical Trials Group

Professor Jon Emery

Herman Chair of Primary Care Cancer Research,
Department of General Practice and Primary Care,
University of Melbourne
Director, PC4: Primary Care Collaborative Cancer
Clinical Trials Group

Dr Sibel Saya

Research Fellow, Department of General Practice and Primary Care, University of Melbourne PC4: Primary Care Collaborative Cancer Clinical Trials Group

Email: kristi.milley@unimelb.edu.au





Table of Contents

Background	1
Risk-based breast and bowel cancer screening	2
Maximising resources	7
Empowering patients	3
A coordinated approach	3
Barriers to implementing risk-based cancer screening	4
Limited workforce	4
Misunderstanding and acceptability	5
Recommendations	7
Develop a national roadmap for bowel cancer risk-based screening	7
Establish national cancer risk literacy training programmes	7
Reform funding models for integrating shared early detection care	8
References	





Background

In Australia in 2022, bowel cancer was estimated to be the second most common cause of death from cancer while breast cancer was the second most diagnosed cancer, with 20 640 cases (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW), 2022b). Early detection of bowel cancer greatly increases the survival rate, with a 99% five-year survival rate for stage 1 cancer compared to 13% for stage 4 cancer (National Cancer Control Indicators, 2019). Likewise, around 95% of people survive breast cancer if it is detected early (National Cancer Control Indicators, 2019). However, participation rates in Australia's national bowel and breast cancer screening programs are low; only 40.9% of eligible Australians participate in the National Bowel Cancer Screening Program and 48% of eligible women participate in BreastScreen Australia (AIHW, 2022a; AIHW, 2022c).

Australia's breast and bowel cancer screening programs are population-based and, except for the minority with a family history, do not target patients at higher risk of developing breast and bowel cancer. While the National **Bowel Cancer Screening Program invites** people aged 50-74 years to participate (Department of Aged Health, 2022), it does not target people below 50 despite an increase in early onset bowel cancer incidence, and 63% of Australians at high risk of bowel cancer do not receive any bowel cancer screening (Akimoto et al., 2020; Dillon et al., 2018; Department of Health and Aged Care, 2022). Similarly, BreastScreen Australia actively invites women aged 50 to 74 for screening and offers women over 40 free

mammograms every 2 years (Department of Health and Aged Care, 2022). However, women in their 40s are not actively invited to screen, and BreastScreen Australia do not offer screening for women aged below 40. This is despite breast cancer being the most prevalent cancer diagnosis in women aged 20-39, and young women having lower survival rates from breast cancer (AIHW, 2022b). These programs do not adhere to Australia's vision of personalised care as screening is not tailored to individual patient's risk (Cancer Australia, 2022; Koczwara et al., 2021).

It has been recommended that risk-stratified cancer screening for breast and bowel cancer should be implemented (Hull et al., 2020; Stephenson, 2021). By targeting interventions for patient groups who will benefit most and reduce screening for those that will benefit least, risk-based cancer screening can increase the early detection of cancer with greater precision (Clift et al., 2021; Emery et al., 2023). This will reduce preventable deaths, unnecessary use of clinical resources and prevent the limited cancer care workforce from being further strained. As of 2023, there are no risk-based cancer screening programs in Australia, apart from a risk-based lung cancer program due to launch in 2025 (Cancer Australia, 2023).

Shifting from Australia's current one-size fits all approach to breast and bowel cancer screening will require greater primary care involvement in early detection. Primary care providers (PCPs) must be supported to play a bigger role in increasing patient acceptability





towards less screening for low-risk individuals; and upskilled to improve risk assessment and communication with patients (Keogh et al., 2019). Australia's limited cancer care

workforce issues need to be addressed before transitioning to a risk-based approach for bowel and breast cancer screening.

Risk-based breast and bowel cancer screening

Risk-stratified screening programs are tailored based on individual-level risk factors (Dennison et al., 2023), to determine eligibility and how often individuals are screened, and have been shown to minimise overdiagnosis and unnecessary treatment for people with lowrisk. Risk stratification can look like using factors such as genetic risk, family history and lifestyle factors (Hull et al., 2020; Phillips et al., 2019) to determine how often patients are screened and appropriate screening tests depending on their risk level (Dennison et al., 2023). This makes risk-based screening programs potentially more cost-effective than population-based screening (Clift et al., 2022; Emery et al, 2023). The benefits of risk-based screening have been recognised by the draft Australian Cancer Plan, as reflected by its priority to provide personalised evidencebased cancer screening for Australians (Cancer Australia, 2022).

Adapting cancer screening practices based on individuals' risk factors will be critical to optimising the delivery of cancer services. As opposed to Australia's current one size fits all approach to breast and bowel cancer screening, risk-based screening uses additional factors such as genetic data to calculate an individual's risk level rather than just age (Clift et al., 2021). Using a range of factors that have been deemed appropriate for breast and bowel cancer respectively ensures that risk-based screening programs are evidence-based,

increasing precision in estimating individual risk (Dennison et al., 2023).

This personalised approach to cancer screening requires a multi-step process, where each step ensures patient expectations are met:

- using risk prediction tools to assess the risk of cancer in individuals,
- assigning individuals to appropriate risk groups and
- delivering tailored interventions to each risk group (Pashayan et al., 2020).

Patient expectations include:

- having access to tailored information about their risk of cancer and
- having their cancer detected early if they have it (Breast Cancer Network Australia (BCNA), 2018).

Maximising resources

Effective risk stratification ensures that the health system can meet patient needs for tailored guidelines on managing breast and bowel cancer risk, as well as decreasing resource wastage by delivering a more efficient service. Risk-based breast cancer screening generates 38.2% less false positives than age-based breast cancer screening (Burnside et al., 2019). Risk stratification for bowel cancer reduces the rate of unnecessary colonoscopies that people at low or average

Perspectives brief



risk of bowel cancer undergo (Emery & Saya, 2023). This means that patient groups that benefit most would have increased screenings while screening is reduced for those that benefit least (Hull et al., 2020). Consequently, risk stratification optimises accurate prioritisation of further treatment options for high-risk patients.

Empowering patients

Risk-based early detection programs for bowel and breast cancer have been advocated by cancer researchers as an effective way to improve risk communication for patients (Hull et al., 2020; Phillips et al., 2019). Risk communication in general practice settings is crucial to improving the likelihood of patients accepting risk-based screening, such as being open to having less frequent screenings when they are determined to be at low risk (Dunlop et al., 2022; Rainey et al., 2018). Inconsistent messaging around the early detection of cancer has resulted in individuals misunderstanding risk management guidelines and scepticism about the purpose of riskbased screening (Dunlop et al., 2022; Keogh et al., 2019).

Risk assessment tools are web-based applications that provide individual risk estimates and tailored management guidelines (Phillips et al., 2019). They are imperative to providing consistent advice and improving patient knowledge about their perception of risk by acting as decision aids (Pashayan et al., 2020). Patients who are exposed to risk assessment tools are more likely to participate in bowel cancer screening (Hull et al., 2020). Likewise, breast cancer risk assessment tools facilitate patient access to tailored information on risk when healthcare providers require

additional support on risk management guidelines (Keogh et al., 2019). As part of a personalised approach to early detection of cancer, risk assessment tools offer valuable information on individualised levels of risk for patients. This is in agreement with national guidelines that champion a person-centred approach to delivering cancer care (Cancer Australia, 2022).

A coordinated approach

For national risk-based breast and bowel cancer screening programs to be successful, healthcare providers and policymakers must collaborate to ensure that the programs are:

- deemed acceptable by patients (consumers) and healthcare professionals,
- equitably accessible,
- cost-effective and
- feasible.

Healthcare organisation readiness is vital in driving the success of personalised early detection programs (Pashayan et al., 2020). Australia's cancer care workforce needs to be sufficiently equipped with healthcare professionals who understand bowel and breast cancer risk to deliver tailored care to patients.

To achieve this, healthcare organisations should adopt a learning organisational culture where stakeholders (including policymakers) agree on a shared vision of a risk assessment model and screening recommendations (Pashayan et al., 2020).

Although there has been progress in developing risk stratification tools to offer personalised early detection of bowel and breast cancer (Emery & Saya, 2023; Phillips et





al., 2019), Australia still faces significant barriers to implementing robust personalised

early detection programs for bowel and breast cancer.

Barriers to implementing risk-based cancer screening

Transitioning from a one size fits all approach to a risk-based bowel and breast cancer screening model requires primary care to have the capacity for increased patient consultations and to support patients' concerns and needs around individualised breast and bowel cancer management, such as how screening changes will affect low-risk patients. Applying a risk-based model to Australia's current population-based programs is impeded by the following:

- Limited cancer care workforce that is inadequately prepared to incorporate riskbased practices (Keogh et al., 2019)
- Patients misunderstanding cancer risk, affecting their acceptability towards riskbased screening (Dunlop et al., 2022; Keogh et al., 2019)

Limited workforce

Australia's cancer care workforce, particularly in primary care, is unable to provide patients with personalised risk information and advice at the beginning of their early detection journey (Keogh et al., 2019). This can be attributed to the sustained lack of general practitioners (GPs), with an estimated 28% shortfall by 2032 (Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP), 2022a). The expected shortfall of PCPs worsened by reporting that less than 80% of younger GPs intend to remain practicing in 10 years' time (RACGP, 2022b). Challenges faced by primary care, in addition to the strain of an overcrowded hospital system, limit the potential of web-based risk assessment tools in informing risk-based screening practices.





Colorectal cancer RISk Predictor tool (CRISP)

CRISP is an online risk prediction tool that can be used in general practice settings to determine individuals' bowel cancer risk and the appropriate screening test for them (Emery et al., 2023). CRISP's screening recommendations will reduce colonoscopies in individuals with average risk so that a larger proportion of high-risk patients can undergo necessary colonoscopies. This outcome is in line with the National Cancer Policy's objectives for bowel cancer screening (Cancer Council, 2019).

In primary care, GPs and practice nurses can use CRISP to calculate a patient's individual bowel cancer risk and recommend the most suitable screening for that patient (Emery & Saya, 2023). CRISP differs from population-based screening as it calculates an individual's five year and lifetime risk of bowel cancer based on lifestyle, age and family history factors (Emery & Saya, 2023). With only 40.9% of eligible Australians completing the bowel test kit in the NBCSP (AIHW, 2022), early detection interventions such as CRISP are crucial to ensure individuals start bowel cancer screening at the optimal age with the most suitable test (Emery & Saya, 2023).

CRISP increased the number of patients choosing the most appropriate test for their risk level by 20% when paired with other primary care-based interventions such as SMS reminders and GPs showing patients how to complete the FOBT (Emery et al., 2023). This highlights its capacity to increase uptake in the right screening for bowel cancer patients (Emery & Saya, 2023), with its success hinging on GPs and practice nurses using it accurately.

However, primary care professionals currently lack confidence in managing cancer risk due to their unfamiliarity with online tools and demonstrated lack of knowledge to assess cancer risk (Phillips et al., 2019). Specialist health professionals have also shown distrust towards these online risk prediction tools when its risk estimates conflict with their opinion (Hull et al., 2020).

Misunderstanding and acceptability

Misunderstanding of cancer risk challenges the adoption of risk-based screening due to patients' apprehension toward how risk-based screening will impact low risk individuals (Dunlop et al., 2022; Keogh et al., 2019; Phillips et al., 2019). Patients at low risk specifically are hesitant to accept having fewer screenings or having the starting age for screening pushed back, as highlighted by public opposition to the changes to the National Cervical Cancer Screening Program in 2017 (Keogh et al., 2019; Obermair et al., 2018). This hesitancy persists, despite research showing that not screening women at lower risk of breast cancer improves the costeffectiveness of breast screening program,

compared to screening women aged 50-69 triennially (Pashayan et al., 2020). Implementing screening changes based on risk stratification will be impacted by low-risk patients' acceptability towards how the changes affect them.

Patients across Australia have also expressed concern about PCPs' level of expertise in delivering tailored risk assessments, particularly their knowledge in using risk prediction tools (Dunlop et al., 2022). This perception of GPs impacts risk communication between GPs and patients, although this has been partially alleviated by the use of risk prediction tools (Rainey et al., 2018; Phillips et al., 2019) in general practice.





iPrevent Breast Cancer Risk Assessment and Management Tool

iPrevent is an evidence-based breast cancer decision support tool that determines individual breast cancer risk and provides tailored risk management advice based on Australian National Guidelines (Phillips et al., 2019). Unlike BreastScreen that is targeted at women aged 50-74 years old, iPrevent is well-calibrated to predict risk for women younger than 50 years, which is superior to similar risk-prediction tools that underperform for this age group (Phillips et al., 2019).

Patients and clinicians have acknowledged the role of iPrevent as a risk assessment tool in bridging the gap where the current health workforce is unable to provide women with personalised risk information (Keogh et al., 2019). iPrevent encourages collaborative use between women and their clinicians and assesses breast cancer risk through the following process (Phillips et al., 2019):

- Obtains information on risk factors such as lifestyle, medical and family history.
- Provides 10-year and lifetime breast cancer risk estimate.
- Delivers a series of appropriate risk management options for woman depending on her risk level.

As iPrevent automates the selection of breast cancer risk estimation models to be used, patients and primary care professionals can use it themselves (Phillips et al., 2019) without prior expertise in breast cancer. This increases its usability compared to other risk prediction tools (such as Cancer Australia's 'Familial Risk Assessment – Breast and Ovarian Cancer') which PCPs are unfamiliar with using (Keogh et al., 2019).

iPrevent, as an example of a risk assessment and management tool, illustrates the potential for accessible, user-friendly risk prediction tools to:

- enable hospitals to focus on high-risk patients who require more intensive care (Keogh et al., 2019) and
- support PCPs with managing and assessing average and moderate risk patients.

However, while risk assessment tools can streamline cancer screening advice across clinics, primary care professionals' perceived lack of knowledge and low confidence in risk literacy prevents its use from being maximised in primary care settings (Keogh et al., 2019). For example, it has been reported that in

Victoria, women often have a lack of confidence in PCPs, perceiving them as being uninformed about breast cancer risk and risk management options (Keogh et al., 2019).

Supporting primary care, particularly the GP workforce, is crucial in ensuring that the implementation of a risk-based bowel and breast cancer screening approach is feasible and deemed acceptable by both patients and healthcare providers. The importance of primary care engagement with patients and its role in communicating the evidence for risk-based screening to patients has been highlighted by healthcare providers' perspectives on the acceptability of the National Lung Cancer Screening Program (Dodd et al., 2023)



Recommendations

Given primary care's ability to provide ongoing care for patients and lead coordinated care, PCPs play a significant role in Australia's shift towards a personalised approach to the early detection of breast and bowel cancer.

Australia's healthcare system must better support PCPs before delivering personalised risk-based screening can occur.

Develop a national roadmap for bowel cancer risk-based screening

A national framework that reviews bowel cancer screening should be developed to

assess risk-based approaches to bowel cancer screening, including in primary care, and create an evidence base of best practices for bowel cancer screening. Such a framework can establish best practice guidelines for the greater involvement of PCPs in delivering personalised care for the early detection of breast and bowel cancer.

A similar Cancer Council project that investigates personalised breast cancer screening is currently underway (Nickson & Tattam, 2021), and is funded by the Department of Health and Aged Care.

Roadmap for Optimising Screening in Australia (ROSA)

ROSA's objective is to develop a framework for implementing risk-based breast cancer screening in Australia by considering the benefits, harms, and costs of different risk-based approaches (Nickson et al., 2019; Nickson & Tattam, 2021).

The framework is being developed through stakeholder consultations, reviewing BreastScreen Australia data, and international evidence. This includes working with the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare to examine opportunities for improving data collection and reporting of BreastScreen outcomes (Nickson & Tattam, 2021).

The ROSA project aims to answer questions such as appropriate screening technologies and intervals for different risk groups; which health professionals can be involved in risk assessment; which age groups to include in risk-based screening; and how GPs can be involved in risk-based screening (Nickson & Tattam, 2021).

Establish national cancer risk literacy training programmes

There is a need to educate providers around specialised knowledge of cancer risk and better risk communication with patients.

Training and resources on cancer risk literacy that enable PCPs to offer personalised bowel and breast cancer risk management and screening advice should be introduced. The delivery of these programs should be funded by the Department of Health and Aged Care under the Australian Cancer Plan.

Training in breast and bowel cancer risk management, including the use of risk assessment tools, will be critical to providing PCPs updated content knowledge and evidence-based responses to communicate with patients. PCPs will be better equipped to





address community concerns and increase support from patients during the transition to risk-based screening. This will increase the role of PCPs in assuring patients as healthcare provider recommendations have been proven to improve screening participation (Obermair et al., 2018).

Consideration could be given to developing public health awareness campaigns that address screening misconceptions that screening is universally beneficial regardless of individual risk levels. These campaigns should work with a range of trusted voices, including

community-based organisations, to reduce public mistrust.

Training programs should be accredited under the Continuing Professional Development (CPD) program for PCPs and reimbursed to ensure PCPs are financially supported in upskilling. The objectives of the proposed training and resources will be in line with the RACGP's key learning outcomes in the Australian General Practice Syllabus, particularly within the communication skills and applied professional knowledge domains (RACGP, 2018).

Risk Communication Lessons from the National Cervical Screening Program Changes in 2017

In December 2017, the NCSP transitioned from cytology-based screening in women from age 18 every 2 years to primary HPV screening every 5 years in women from age 25. This change sparked community concerns about the longer interval between screenings and pushed back starting age for screening, which culminated in an online petition with more than 70 000 signatures (Smith et al., 2019).

Although there were possible evidence-based responses that could have addressed these concerns (Obermair et al., 2018), not all healthcare providers were aware of such evidence or understood them. This resulted in patients' increased scepticism towards the changes as their healthcare provider also expressed apprehension.

Educating health providers about the rationale behind program changes in advance would equip providers with the relevant information and knowledge to communicate with patients, thereby increasing public acceptance (Obermair et al., 2018).

Reform funding models for integrating shared early detection care

Federal government funding for integrating shared care between PCPs and specialists should be increased. Integrating a shared care model for early detection of bowel and breast cancer will allow PCPs to be better supported by specialists in managing bowel and breast cancer when PCPs require further advice on

bowel and breast cancer knowledge that is not their area of expertise.

Funding for the general practice workforce should also be reformed to allow PCPs to deliver comprehensive care that is tailored to the individual needs of patients. A new funding model for general practice which will be more sustainable has been proposed during the 2022 General Practice Crisis Summit (RACGP, 2022).





References

Akimoto, N., Ugai, T., Zhong, R., Hamada, T., Fujiyoshi, K., Giannakis, M., Wu, K., Cao, Y., Ng, K., & Ogino, S. (2020). Rising incidence of early-onset colorectal cancer — a call to action. *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology*, *18*(4).

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41571-020-00445-1

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2022a). BreastScreen Australia monitoring report 2022. https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/cancer-screening/breastscreen-australia-monitoring-report-2022/summary

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2022b). Cancer data in Australia. In *Australian Institute of Health and Welfare*.

https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/cancer/cancerdata-in-australia/contents/about

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2022c). National Bowel Cancer Screening Program monitoring report 2022. In *Australian Institute of Health and Welfare*.

https://www.aihw.gov.au/getmedia/bbbd0aa3c747-4246-b552-92654d5161bc/Cancer-screeningprograms-quarterly-data.pdf.aspx?inline=true

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2023). Cancer screening programs: quarterly data. In Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/cancer-screening/national-cancer-screening-programs-participation/contents/national-bowel-cancer-screening-program

Breast Cancer Network Australia. (2018). *State of the Nation*.

https://apo.org.au/sites/default/files/resource-files/2018-06/apo-nid190561.pdf

Burnside, E. S., Trentham-Dietz, A., Shafer, C. M., Hampton, J. M., Alagoz, O., Cox, J. R., Mischo, E., Schrager, S. B., & Wilke, L. G. (2019). Age-based versus Risk-based Mammography Screening in Women 40–49 Years Old: A Cross-sectional Study. Radiology, 292(2), 321–328. https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.2019181651

Cancer Australia. (2019). *Relative survival by stage at diagnosis (female breast cancer)*. National Cancer Control Indicators.

https://ncci.canceraustralia.gov.au/relativesurvival-stage-diagnosis-female-breast-cancer

Cancer Australia. (2022). *Draft Australian Cancer Plan*. Cancer Australia.

https://engage.australiancancerplan.gov.au/project s/download/12702/ProjectDocument

Cancer Council Australia. (2018). *Bowel cancer*. Cancer Council Australia.

https://wiki.cancer.org.au/policy/Bowel cancer

Clift, A. K., Dodwell, D., Lord, S., Petrou, S., Brady, S. M., Collins, G. S., & Hippisley-Cox, J. (2021). The current status of risk-stratified breast screening. British Journal of Cancer, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41416-021-01550-3

Dunlop, K., Rankin, N., Cust, A. E., Newson, A. J., Keogh, L., & Cust, A. E. (2022). Views of the Australian public on the delivery of risk-stratified cancer screening in the population: a qualitative study. https://doi.org/10.17061/phrp32232213

Department of Health and Aged Care. (2023, February). Taking action on smoking and vaping. https://www.health.gov.au/ministers/the-hon-mark-butler-mp/media/taking-action-on-smoking-and-vaping

Department of Aged Health and Care. (2022). *National Bowel Cancer Screening Program*. https://www.health.gov.au/our-work/national-bowel-cancer-screening-program

Department of Health and Aged Care. (2022). BreastScreen Australia Program. https://www.health.gov.au/our-work/breastscreen-australia-program





Dillon, M., Flander, L., Buchanan, D. D., Macrae, F. A., Emery, J. D., Winship, I. M., Boussioutas, A., Giles, G. G., Hopper, J. L., Jenkins, M. A., & Ait Ouakrim, D. (2018). Family history—based colorectal cancer screening in Australia: A modelling study of the costs, benefits, and harms of different participation scenarios. *PLOS Medicine*, *15*(8), e1002630.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002630

Dodd, R. H., Sharman, A. R., Marshall, H. M., Mei Ling Yap, Stone, E., Rhee, J. J., McCullough, S., & Rankin, N. M. (2023). "What do I think about implementing lung cancer screening? It all depends on how." Acceptability and feasibility of lung cancer screening in Australia: The view of key stakeholders about health system factors. *PLOS ONE*, *18*(4), e0283939—e0283939.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0283939

Emery, J. D., Jenkins, M. A., Saya, S., Chondros, P., Oberoi, J., Milton, S., Novy, K., Habgood, E., Karnchanachari, N., Pirotta, M., Trevena, L., Bickerstaffe, A., Lourenço, R. D. A., Crothers, A., Ouakrim, D. A., Flander, L., Dowty, J. G., Walter, F. M., Clark, M., & Doncovio, S. (2023). The Colorectal cancer RISk Prediction (CRISP) trial: a randomised controlled trial of a decision support tool for risk-stratified colorectal cancer screening. *British Journal of General Practice*.

https://doi.org/10.3399/BJGP.2022.0480

Emery, J., & Saya, S. (2023, April 4). Using the right test for the right person to detect bowel cancer. Pursuit; University of Melbourne.

https://pursuit.unimelb.edu.au/articles/using-theright-test-for-the-right-person-to-detect-bowelcancer

Hull, M. A., Rees, C. J., Sharp, L., & Koo, S. (2020). A risk-stratified approach to colorectal cancer prevention and diagnosis. Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology, 17(12), 773–780. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41575-020-00368-3

Keogh, L., E. Ashley Steel, Weideman, P., Butow, P., Collins, I., Emery, J. P., G. Bruce Mann, Bickerstaffe, A., Trainer, A. H., Hopper, L., & Phillips, K. (2019). Consumer and clinician perspectives on personalising breast cancer prevention information. The Breast, 43, 39–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.breast.2018.11.002

Koczwara, B., Thornton-Benko, E., Cohn, R. J., Chan, R. J., Rhee, J., Joske, D., Iddawela, M., & Vardy, J. L.

(2021). Personalised cancer care in the era of precision medicine. *Australian Journal of General Practice*, *50*(8), 533–537.

https://doi.org/10.31128/ajgp-04-21-5953

Nickson, C., & Tattam, A. (2021). Finding breast cancers early - a roadmap for personalised screening. Cancer Council.

https://www.cancer.org.au/blog/finding-breastcancers-early-a-roadmap-for-personalisedscreening

Nickson, C., Velentzis, L., Brennan, P., Mann, G. B., & Houssami, N. (2019). Improving breast cancer screening in Australia: a public health perspective. Public Health Research & Practice, 29(2). https://doi.org/10.17061/phrp2921911

Obermair, H. M., Dodd, R. H., Bonner, C., Jansen, J., & McCaffery, K. (2018). "It has saved thousands of lives, so why change it?" Content analysis of objections to cervical screening programme changes in Australia. *BMJ Open*, 8(2). https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019171

Pashayan, N., Antoniou, A. C., Ivanus, U., Esserman, L. J., Easton, D. F., French, D., Sroczynski, G., Hall, P., Cuzick, J., Evans, D. G., Simard, J., Garcia-Closas, M., Schmutzler, R., Wegwarth, O., Pharoah, P., Moorthie, S., De Montgolfier, S., Baron, C., Herceg, Z., & Turnbull, C. (2020). Personalized early detection and prevention of breast cancer: ENVISION consensus statement. Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41571-020-0388-9



Perspectives brief

Phillips, K.-A., Liao, Y., Milne, R. L., MacInnis, R. J., Collins, I. M., Buchsbaum, R., Weideman, P. C., Bickerstaffe, A., Nesci, S., Chung, W. K., Southey, M. C., Knight, J. A., Whittemore, A. S., Dite, G. S., Goldgar, D., Giles, G. G., Glendon, G., Cuzick, J., Antoniou, A. C., & Andrulis, I. L. (2019). Accuracy of Risk Estimates from the iPrevent Breast Cancer Risk Assessment and Management Tool. *JNCI Cancer Spectrum*, *3*(4).

https://doi.org/10.1093/jncics/pkz066

Rainey, L., van der Waal, D., Wengström, Y., Jervaeus, A., & Broeders, M. J. M. (2018). Women's perceptions of the adoption of personalised risk-based breast cancer screening and primary prevention: a systematic review. Acta Oncologica, 57(10), 1275–1283.

https://doi.org/10.1080/0284186x.2018.1481291

Smith, M., Hammond, I., & Saville, M. (2019). Lessons from the renewal of the National Cervical Screening Program in Australia. *Public Health Research & Practice*, 29(2).

https://doi.org/10.17061/phrp2921914

The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. (2018). *RACGP Curriculum and syllabus - Domain 1 Communication skills and the patient-doctor relationship*. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners.

https://www.racgp.org.au/education/educationproviders/curriculum/curriculum-andsyllabus/home

The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. (2022a). *General Practice Crisis Summit: White paper*.

https://www.racgp.org.au/FSDEDEV/media/docum ents/Advocacy/General-Practice-Crisis-Summit-White-Paper-November-2022.pdf

The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. (2022b). *General Practice: Health of the Nation 2022*.

https://www.racgp.org.au/getmedia/80c8bdc9-8886-4055-8a8d-ea793b088e5a/Health-of-the-Nation.pdf.aspx

Contact:

Adj AProf Rebecca Haddock Executive Director Knowledge Exchange Australian Healthcare and Hospitals Association.

Email: rhaddock@ahha.asn.au

Citation: Crystal K, Emery J and Saya S. (2023). Risk based cancer screening: the role of primary care. Deeble Perspectives Brief 27. Australian Healthcare and Hospitals Association, Australia.

© Australian Healthcare and Hospital Association, 2023. All rights reserved.



AHHA acknowledge the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples as Australia's First Nation Peoples and the Traditional Custodians of this land. We respect their continued connection to land and sea, country, kin, and community. AHHA also pays our respect to their Elders past, present, and emerging as the custodians of knowledge and lore.